NO. 71094-0-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

MAR 28 2014

W.

King County Prosecutor

King Honorable Timothy Bradshaw, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

###

#### A. INTRODUCTION

When Fish and Wildlife officer Erik Olson stopped the boat Justin Michael Stoltman was on and suspected that a large pipe valve in the boat had been stolen, he was entitled to ask investigatory questions without providing Miranda<sup>1</sup> warnings. However, when Officer Olson moved Stoltman to the law enforcement vessel, questioned Stoltman twice in isolation, and intended to and did elicit Stoltman's incriminating responses, Officer Olson was required to inform Stoltman of his Miranda rights. His failure to do so requires suppression of Stoltman's incriminating statements.

Officer Olson also lacked probable cause to seize Stoltman's property. Although he suspected that various items in Stoltman's possession were stolen, the items were not immediately apparent as contraband and therefore were not subject to seizure. Mere suspicion of crime is not sufficient; there must be probable cause to seize items in plain view. And, even if Officer Olson had probable cause to seize the items, it was based in part on and thus tainted by Stoltman's unconstitutionally elicited statements. The items seized must be suppressed.

In addition, while Officer Olson's loss of his father during the investigation of this case was tragic and undoubtedly impacted Officer Olson's ability to complete his work, criminal defendants should not face

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

unreasonable and prejudicial preaccusatorial delays based on the health of officers' family members. Due process requires more.

Because the delay in this case prejudiced Stoltman in several ways, and because the trial court should have suppressed Stoltman's statements and items in his possession, this court must reverse Stoltman's convictions and remand with instructions to dismiss this prosecution with prejudice.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in admitting Stoltman's statement that the large pipe valve was already in the boat when he boarded the vessel and that he obtained the seven small red pipe valves for a friend who collected them. These statements were made after Officer Olson exceeded the scope of a Terry<sup>2</sup> stop and after Officer Olson controlled Stoltman's actions such that he was subjected to custodial interrogation that required Miranda warnings.
- 2. The trial court erred in entering "undisputed fact" (d) on CP 108 and 114 to the extent that it states that Stoltman or co-defendant Hibszki stated they were on a "pleasure cruise" during the early morning hours of July 26, 2010, as the suppression testimony plainly indicated that this statement was made during the early morning hours of July 27, 2010. RP 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

- 3. The trial court erred in entering "undisputed fact" (o) on CP 110 and 116 to the extent that it states that Stoltman obtained five red metal handles for a friend who collects these handles, as the suppression testimony plainly indicated that Stoltman obtained seven such handles. RP 42.
- 4. The trial court erred in entering "undisputed fact" (o) on CP 110 and 116 to the extent that it states that Stoltman could not remember the name of this friend, as no such evidence was proffered during the suppression hearing.
- 5. The trial court erred in entering "undisputed fact" (p) on CP 111 and 117 to the extent that it suggests that Stoltman's entire detention was less than 15 minutes, as the testimony plainly indicated that the detention was approximately 25 minutes in duration. RP 36.
- 6. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law on CP 111 that Stoltman's statements were admissible because they were made during the course of a brief <u>Terry</u> stop that did not require <u>Miranda</u> warnings.
- 7. The trial court erred in entering ¶ 2 on CP 112 admitting the statement that the metal valve was already in the boat when Stoltman boarded the vessel.
- 8. The trial court erred in entering ¶ 3 on CP 112 determining that Stoltman obtained seven red valve handles for a friend who collects them and that Stoltman could not remember this friend's name.

- 9. The trial court erred in admitting all physical evidence in this case, as it was not subject to plain view seizure and Officer Olson seized it without probable cause.
- 10. The trial court erred in entering finding of fact (b) on CP 11920 that the seizure of the pipe valve and contents of two bags was supported
  by sufficient probable cause, including the plain view of the valve,
  conflicting statements by Hibszki and Stoltman concerning where the valve
  had come from, the observation of the recently cut fittings and pipe and
  seven red handles, and the confidential informant's statement that Hibszki
  and Stoltman were out to cut cable to sell it to a scrap metal buyer.
- 11. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law (a) on CP
  120 that the large metal valve and the contents of the two bags were
  admissible in the State's case-in-chief.
- The trial court erred in refusing to dismiss the prosecution against Stoltman based on prejudicial preaccusatorial delay.
- 13. The trial court erred in entering finding of fact (e) on CP 120 that in balancing the interests of the State against the prejudice to the defendants, the prejudice was insufficient to require dismissal of the charges.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Does an investigating officer exceed the scope of <u>Terry</u> when he or she physically intrudes on a suspect's liberty for 25 minutes and moves a suspect twice in order to privately question the suspect?
- 2. May what begins as a permissible <u>Terry</u> stop ripen into a full custodial interrogation when the officer takes actions that render the suspect in custody for practical purposes, and, if so, is the suspect entitled to the full protections prescribed by <u>Miranda</u>?
- 3. When an investigating officer controls and restricts the physical movement of a suspect and repeatedly questions a suspect to a degree that a reasonable person in the suspect's position would not feel free to leave, has liberty been curtailed to a degree associated with formal arrest and is the suspect in custody?
- 4. When an investigating officer repeatedly questions a suspect in a manner reasonably likely to elicit incriminating responses, is the suspect subjected to interrogation?
- 5. When a suspect is in custody and is subjected to interrogation, must officers provide <u>Miranda</u> warnings to protect the suspect's right against self-incrimination?

- 6. When officers seize items in plain view, must officers have immediately apparent probable cause to believe that the items are evidence of crime?
- 7. Does mere suspicion that requires further investigation to determine if items seized are evidence of crime constitute immediately apparent knowledge that the seized items are evidence of crime?
- 8. Even if probable cause exists to seize items, if such probable cause is tainted by unconstitutionally elicited statements, does the tainted probable cause taint the seizure, rendering the seized evidence inadmissible?
- 9. When an arrest is based on tainted probable cause, must the evidence seized incident to the unlawful arrest be suppressed as fruits of the poisonous tree?
- 10. When the State cannot prove the offenses charged because all evidence supporting the charges was unconstitutionally obtained and therefore inadmissible, must a defendant's convictions be reversed and must the charges be dismissed with prejudice?
- 11. When there has been a preaccusatorial delay, must the prosecution be dismissed when the prejudice experienced by the defendant outweighs the State's reasons for the delay?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Charges and motions to suppress

The King County Prosecutor initially charged Stoltman with second degree theft and possession of a controlled substance. CP 1-2. Thereafter, the State amended its charges to include second degree burglary and second degree malicious mischief. CP 29-30. The State amended its information a third time to correct a numbering error in the charged counts. CP 52-53.

Stoltman moved to suppress all of the State's evidence, arguing that his incriminating statements were obtained in violation of <u>Terry</u> and <u>Miranda</u> and that items in his possession were unlawfully seized. CP 38-51. Stoltman also moved for dismissal due to preaccusatorial delay. CP 31-37.

#### 2. Suppression hearing testimony

Officer Olson was the sole witness who testified at the suppression hearing. RP 9-134.

On July 25, 2010 at approximately 9:00 p.m., Officer Olson received a call from a confidential informant, Malcolm Vick, regarding the launch of a vessel under the West Seattle Bridge. RP 14. The two people who launched the vessel stated they were going to drop or retrieve crab pots, in violation of state law. RP 14. Officer Olson arrived at the launch site approximately 40 to 45 minutes after receiving Vick's call and waited. RP 15.

Around 2:30 a.m. on July 26, 2010, Officer Olson noticed a vessel approaching the launch site with two people aboard. RP 15. He noticed that there were no lights or registration affixed to the vessel. RP 15-16. Officer Olson approached the vessel and identified himself as a Fish and Wildlife Officer. RP 17. Officer Olson identified the passengers on the vessel as Stoltman and Tamas Hibszki. RP 16. Officer Olson inquired about Stoltman's and Hibszki's crabbing activities to which they responded that they were not crabbing. RP 18. Hibszki also stated that the vessel belonged to him. RP 19.

Noticing cabling aboard the vessel, Officer Olson also asked Stoltman and Hibszki where they obtained the cable. RP 18. Stoltman and Hibszki stated "they were recycling cabling from abandoned pilings . . . over at Jack Block Park." RP 18. Officer Olson informed Stoltman and Hibszki that they could not recycle cable from pilings because the cable belonged to the Port of Seattle. RP 20, 22. Officer Olson also asked Stoltman and Hibszki to look in their bags containing wire cutters and other tools sticking out, which Stoltman and Hibszki allowed. RP 21. Officer Olson contacted Port of Seattle Police, who arrived in about 15 minutes. RP 22. Port of Seattle Police took the cabling and placed it their patrol car. RP 22. Officer Olson gave Stoltman and Hibszki a warning for not having lights or registration, but released them. RP 22.

The following evening, Officer Olson received another call from Vick stating that the same people were again launching a vessel. RP 23. Vick also stated that Hibszki had offered Vick methamphetamine to watch his car. RP 35, 81. Officer Olson proceeded to call another officer for assistance (Officer Chris Moszeter), obtained a patrol boat, and began patrolling waters near the launch site. RP 24-25. Officer Olson observed pilings near Jack Block Park and noticed that the cabling attached to the pilings did not match the type of cabling seized from Stoltman and Hibszki the night before. RP 24-25.

Around 2:30 a.m. on July 27, 2010, Officer Olson observed faint red lights out on the water following a blip on his radar. RP 25-26, 86. He approached the lights and, after getting closer, saw that it was the same vessel from the previous evening. RP 27. Officer Olson came alongside the vessel and Officer Moszeter made contact, asking Stoltman and Hibszki where they were headed. RP 28. One of the occupants stated that they were "out for a pleasure cruise." RP 28.

Officer Olson immediately observed a large pipe valve sitting in the middle of the boat. RP 29. Officer Moszeter asked to search bags in the possession of Stoltman and Hibszki, which Stoltman and Hibszki permitted. RP 30. The bags contained smaller red valves and brass and copper piping. RP 31. Officer Olson, suspicious because the large pipe valve "looked out

of place," asked Stoltman to board his vessel for questioning. RP 31, 33. Stoltman stated that the pipe valve was on the boat when he and Hibszki launched earlier in the evening. RP 33. During this questioning, Officer Moszeter showed Stoltman the smaller red pipe valves found in the bags and Officer Olson also questioned Stoltman about these smaller valves. RP 34. Stoltman told Officer Olson that he gives those valves to a friend who collects them but could not say where he got them. RP 34-35. Olson returned Stoltman to Hibszki's boat and transferred Hibszki onto the law enforcement vessel. RP 33-34. Hibszki stated that he and Stoltman "had gone up the Duwamish River and picked [the large pipe valve] up from a friend of his, who gave it to him at the First Avenue Bridge." RP 34. Thereafter, Officer Olson returned Hibszki to his vessel and had Stoltman reboard the police vessel. RP 34, 92. Officer Olson informed Stoltman that his statement was inconsistent with Hibszki's, to which Stoltman responded that he did not want to speak to Officer Olson further. RP 34, 93-94.

Following these exchanges, which together took approximately 25 minutes, Officer Olson returned Stoltman to Hibszki's vessel and informed Stoltman and Hibszki that he would be seizing all of the items—the large pipe valve, the smaller valves, and the copper and brass piping—as evidence of theft. RP 36. Officer Olson also issued an infraction for boating safety violations. RP 36. Officer Olson then let Stoltman and Hibszki go. RP 37.

Immediately following his detention of Stoltman and Hibszki, Officer Olson drove his boat up the Duwamish river "looking for a boat that kind of had th[e] coloring or th[e] kind of paint configuration" of the pipe valves. RP 37. No more than 100 yards away, Officer Olson noticed a large freighter with several open hatches that matched the paint. RP 38, 40. Officer Olson proceeded to approach and board the freighter. RP 41.

After looking through the freighter, Officer Olson located a room that was missing a pipe valve that appeared to match the width of the pipe valve he had seized from Stoltman and Hibszki. RP 41. He also located panels and stems from which it appeared the seven smaller valves and piping had been taken. RP 41-42.

Thereafter, Officer Olson left the freighter to retrieve his fingerprint kit from the Elliot Bay Marina. RP 44. He obtained what he believed was a fingerprint that turned out to be a palm print. RP 44. He submitted the palm print to the lab for analysis. RP 44-45.

Some six weeks before trial, the palm print was matched to David Roberts. RP 45. Officer Olson eventually made contact with Roberts, offering him immunity in exchange for being truthful regarding his exchanges with Stoltman and Hibszki. RP 46. Roberts informed Officer Olson that "he had been on that vessel scrapping, as he put it, with . . . Mr.

Hibszki and Mr. Stoltman." RP 46. Roberts later testified at trial. RP 450-90.

On November 23, 2010, Officer Olson located Stoltman. RP 50. Officer Olson placed Stoltman under arrest and found a baggie containing what Stoltman admitted to be heroin on Stoltman's person. RP 50-51.

#### 3. Preaccusatorial delay testimony and argument

Despite the alleged crimes occurring in July 2010 and Stoltman's arrest in November 2010, the State failed to charge Stoltman with any crime until February 2013. CP 1-2. The State's first information only contained charges for theft in the second degree and possession of a controlled substance. CP 1-2. Not until July 12, 2013 was Stoltman informed of the additional charges of burglary in the second degree and malicious mischief in the second degree. CP 29-30.

As with the suppression testimony, Officer Olson was the sole witness to testify regarding the State's delay in bringing charges against Stoltman. Officer Olson testified that his father was diagnosed with terminal brain cancer in June 2010. RP 52. Officer Olson continued to work following the diagnosis until his father suffered a stroke in June 2011. RP 52-53. As a result of his father's stroke, Officer Olson took significant time off work. RP 53. Officer Olson's father eventually died in September 2012. RP 53-54.

Officer Olson testified that as a patrol officer, he was responsible for his own investigations. RP 55. He acknowledged that during the period of his father's illness, his cases went "on the back burner." RP 55. He also indicated that no one else in the Department of Fish and Wildlife could take this case as the Department had 150 officers spread throughout the state and only approximately 12 in King County. RP 56. Officer Olson indicated that all of these officers were "very, very busy." RP 56. In addition, Officer Olson testified that he was unwilling to hand the case over to the Seattle Police Department because he had "had a bad experience with that on one occasion." RP 56. According to Officer Olson, in a previous case he handed to the Seattle Police Department, "they sat on it for a year, so [Officer Olson] took it back and worked it . . . ." RP 56.

During argument on Stoltman's motion to dismiss based on prejudicial preaccusatorial delay, Stoltman identified three specific prejudices suffered as a result of the delay. First, Stoltman indicated that he was unable to accept a misdemeanor plea offer from the State because the statute of limitations on misdemeanors had run by the time of charging. RP 156. Second, Stoltman noted that Vick, Officer Olson's confidential informant, had died, depriving Stoltman of his ability to interview or examine him. RP 156-58. Finally, Stoltman argued that the delay gave the State a technological advantage because, between the arrest and the filing of

charges, the State had upgraded its systems to enable it to perform automated searches of palm prints. RP 156-57.

# 4. <u>Court's ruling on suppression motions and preaccusatorial delay</u>

The trial court issued written findings of fact and conclusions of law detailing facts that generally conform to the above recitation.<sup>3</sup> CP 108-11, 114-19.

With regard to the CrR 3.5 findings and conclusions, the court concluded that the following statements were admissible: (1) Stoltman's statement that he and Hibszki were on a pleasure cruise; (2) the statement that the metal valve was already in the boat when Stoltman boarded Hibszki's vessel; and (3) the "statement that Stoltman obtained the seven red valve handles for a friend who collects them, but he could not remember the name of this friend." CP 111-12. The court admitted these statements on the basis that they were made during a brief Terry stop during which Miranda warnings were not required. CP 111.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> However, as the above Assignments of Error make clear, Stoltman disputes that he or Hibszki stated they were on a "pleasure cruise" during the early morning hours of July 26, 2010. See CP 108, 114. The record is clear that this statement was made during the early morning hours of July 27, 2010, not July 26, 2010. RP 25-26, 28. In addition, the trial court's undisputed facts indicate that Stoltman obtained five red metal handles for a friend but that Stoltman could not remember his friend's name. CP 110, 116. However, the suppression testimony unmistakably indicated there were seven small pipe valve handles, RP 42, and that Stoltman merely "couldn't tell [Officer Olson] where he had gotten them," RP 34-35. Contrary to the court's findings, there was no testimony during the suppression hearing that Stoltman could not remember the name of his friend.

As for the CrR 3.6 findings and conclusions, the trial court determined that the large metal pipe valve recovered from the floor of Hibszki's vessel and the contents of the two bags in Stoltman's and Hibszki's possession were admissible. CP 120. The court deemed this evidence admissible because it found Officer Olson's seizure "supported by sufficient probable cause, including the plain view of the valve on the bottom of Hibszki's boat, the conflicting statements by Hibszki and Stoltman concerning where the valve had come from, and the observation of the freshly-cut fittings and copper pipe and the seven red handles in the bags." RP 119-20. The trial court also determined that probable cause "was further enhanced by the confidential informant who stated that . . . both defendants were going out that night to cut more cable to sell to a scrap metal buyer."

With regard to the preaccusatorial delay, the court determined that the "delay in filing charges in this matter caused both defendants prejudice." CP 120. However, the trial court noted that the delay was not caused "deliberately or maliciously by Sgt.<sup>4</sup> Olson." CP 120. Thus, in balancing the "interests of the State against the prejudice to the defendants, the Court concludes that the prejudice suffered by the defendants is not sufficient enough to require a dismissal of these charges." CP 120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This brief refers to Olson as Officer Olson, as he was not a Department of Fish and Wildlife sergeant at the time of Stoltman's alleged crimes or arrest. RP 23.

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