COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JUSTIN STOLTMAN,

Appellant.



APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY A. BRADSHAW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED STOLTMAN'S STATEMENTS TO OFFICER OLSON BECAUSE HE WAS NOT IN CUSTODY FOR MIRANDA PURPOSES.

Stoltman contends that two of his statements to Officer

Olson should have been suppressed because he was subjected to custodial interrogation during the July 27 stop without the benefit of

Miranda³ warnings.⁴ This argument fails because Stoltman was not restrained to a degree associated with formal arrest, and was therefore not entitled to Miranda warnings during his brief detention.

In reviewing the trial court's decision after a CrR 3.5 hearing, appellate courts determine whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact, and whether those findings support the conclusions of law. State v. Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, 130-31, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). Substantial evidence is that which is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding. State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 214, 970 P.2d 722 (1999).

Miranda warnings must be given when a suspect is subject to custodial interrogation by an agent of the State. State v. Sargent, 111 Wn.2d 641, 647, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988). When Miranda warnings are not provided in such circumstances, a suspect's statements are presumed involuntary. Id. at 647-48.

"'Custody' for the purposes of <u>Miranda</u> is narrowly circumscribed and requires formal arrest or restraint on freedom of

³ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

⁴ Olson challenges admission of his statement that he did not know how the pipe valve came to be in Hibszki's boat and that he had the red valve handles to give to a friend but couldn't say where he got them. Brief of Appellant at 17 n.5.

movement to a degree associated with formal arrest." State v. Ferguson, 76 Wn. App. 560, 566, 886 P.2d 1164 (1995). The inquiry is objective, and asks "not whether a reasonable person would believe he or she was not free to leave, but rather '[w]hether such a person would believe he was in police custody of the degree associated with formal arrest." Id. (citing 1 W. LaFave & J. Israel, Criminal Procedure § 6.6, at 105 (Supp. 1991)).

In <u>Berkemer v. McCarty</u>, 468 U.S. 420, 439-40, 104 S. Ct. 3138, 82 L. Ed. 2d 317 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held that a brief seizure of a suspect pursuant to a traffic or <u>Terry</u>⁵ stop does not rise to the level of "custody" for the purposes of <u>Miranda</u>. Even though a traffic stop significantly curtails the freedom of action of the driver and passengers, and even though most motorists would not feel free to leave the scene of a traffic stop without being told they might do so, <u>Miranda</u> protections are not required because traffic stops are presumptively temporary and brief, exposed to public view, and "substantially less 'police dominated' than that surrounding the kinds of interrogation at issue in <u>Miranda</u>" and its progeny. <u>Berkemer</u>, 468 U.S. at 436-39.

⁵ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

detainee "a moderate number of questions to determine his identity and to try to obtain information confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicions" without rendering the suspect "in custody" for the purposes of Miranda. Berkemer, 468 U.S. at 439; State v. Heritage, 152 Wn.2d 210, 218, 95 P.3d 345 (2004).

In <u>Berkemer</u>, an officer observed a motorist weaving and initiated a traffic stop to investigate drunk driving. 468 U.S. at 423. When the motorist exited the car and had difficulty standing, the officer concluded that he would be charged with a traffic offense and was not free to leave. <u>Id.</u> The motorist had slurred speech, failed a field sobriety test, and admitted, in response to questions, that he had consumed drugs and alcohol shortly before driving. <u>Id.</u> The officer placed him under arrest and took him to jail, where he was given an intoxilyzer test and subjected to further questioning, which elicited additional incriminating statements. <u>Id.</u> at 424.

The Supreme Court rejected the argument that the motorist's pre-arrest statements should have been excluded because he "has failed to demonstrate that, at any time between the initial stop and the arrest, he was subjected to restraints comparable to those associated with a formal arrest." <u>Berkemer</u>, 468 U.S. at 441. The interval between the stop and arrest was short, and the officer did

not communicate that the stop would be anything but temporary.

Id. at 441-42. "[A] single police officer asked respondent a modest number of questions and requested him to perform a simple balancing test at a location visible to passing motorists. Treatment of this sort cannot fairly be characterized as the functional equivalent of formal arrest." Id. at 442.

The situation in this case is similar. Officers Olson and Moszeter stopped Stoltman and Hibszki's boat to investigate the informant's report that they were stealing cable and that they had offered him drugs. Immediately upon stopping the boat, the officers noticed a large pipe valve that clearly had come from a large ship and was out of place in Hibszki's small boat. The officers asked both men a modest number of questions at a location visible to anyone passing by in order to confirm or dispel their suspicion that the two were involved in theft again. The officers did not indicate that the stop would not be temporary, and indeed, the stop lasted only 25 minutes before both men were allowed to leave. This brief investigatory detention did not curtail Stoltman's freedom to the degree associated with formal arrest.

Stoltman agrees that Officer Olson was permitted to stop the boat, to inquire about what the men were doing, why they had not

remedied boating violations they had been warned about, whether they had stolen more cable, and whether the men had controlled substances. Brief of Appellant at 20-21. Stoltman also agrees that the officers properly extended the duration and scope of the stop when they saw the large pipe valve that further aroused their suspicion. Brief of Appellant at 21. Stoltman contends, however, that Officer Olson exceeded the permissible scope of the investigatory stop when he moved Stoltman to the patrol boat for questioning. He argues that a reasonable person subject to this conduct would not feel free to terminate questioning and leave the scene, and Miranda warnings were therefore required.

But an investigatory detention does not become a custodial arrest for Fifth Amendment purposes simply because a suspect does not feel free to leave. State v. Marcum, 149 Wn. App. 894, 910, 205 P.3d 969 (2009). "Rather, a 'detaining officer may ask a moderate number of questions during a Terry stop to determine the identity of the suspect and to confirm or dispel the officer's suspicions without rendering the suspect 'in custody' for the purposes of Miranda." Id. (citing Heritage, 152 Wn.2d at 218). That is exactly what happened here.

In order to ask the questions necessary to confirm or dispel his suspicions, Officer Olson had each suspect step onto the patrol boat. Stoltman argues that this action converted the Terry stop into an unlawful arrest. But he also acknowledges that transporting a suspect during an investigatory stop is permissible so long as the police are aware of a reported crime and the detention is brief. State v. Moore, 129 Wn. App. 870, 889, 120 P.3d 635 (2005) (citing State v. Wheeler, 108 Wn.2d 230, 235, 737 P.2d 1005 (1987)). In Wheeler, a burglary suspect was frisked, handcuffed and transported two blocks away in the back of a patrol car for a "show-up" identification. 108 Wn.2d at 235. The Wheeler court found that the detention was a significant physical intrusion, but was justified because "a crime had been reported; a suspect had been stopped; the transportation was for a short distance; [and] the total detention was for but a brief time—no more than 5 to 10 minutes." Id. at 237.

The detention in this case satisfies the Wheeler criteria.

Officer Olson knew that Stoltman and Hibszki had committed a theft the day before, and Olson's reliable informant reported that the same men had returned to steal again and had also offered him illegal drugs. Thus, "a crime had been reported." Id. at 237. The

"suspect[s] had been stopped" when Olson recognized them from the previous night. Id. To the extent that Stoltman was "transported" at all, it was an extremely short distance, much more like walking a driver a few steps away from the car than driving a suspect blocks away to be identified by a victim. Further, unlike the suspect in Wheeler, Stoltman was not frisked or handcuffed before he was moved. And the total detention of 25 minutes, while longer than the detention in Wheeler, was a reasonable length of time to investigate, after which Stoltman and Hibszki were both released. The intrusion here was markedly less intrusive than that which was upheld in Wheeler and did not convert the Terry stop into an unlawful arrest.

Further, although Stoltman repeatedly asserts that a reasonable person would not have felt free to terminate questioning and leave under these circumstances, he did exactly that. When confronted with the information that Hibszki's explanation about the large pipe valve contradicted his own, Stoltman told Olson that he did not want to talk anymore and the questioning stopped. RP 34. Stoltman was returned to his boat and he and Hibszki were released. RP 36-37. Stoltman's actual conduct in terminating the

questioning belies his claim that a reasonable person would not have felt free to do so.

Stoltman was not subject to custodial interrogation. Officer
Olson did not exceed the permissible scope of a <u>Terry</u> stop.

<u>Miranda</u> warnings were not required. The trial court properly admitted Stoltman's statements.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING PHYSICAL EVIDENCE DISCOVERED IN PLAIN VIEW.

Stoltman next contends that Officer Olson improperly seized the stolen property discovered in Hibszki's boat because the items were not immediately apparent as contraband, and therefore the "plain view" doctrine does not excuse the failure to obtain a warrant. But under the circumstances, Officer Olson could reasonably conclude that these items were incriminating evidence of theft. The "plain view" exception therefore applies, and Stoltman's argument fails.

The "plain view" doctrine is an exception to the warrant requirement that allows an officer to seize evidence when the officer has a prior justification for the intrusion and the item seized is immediately recognizable as contraband, stolen property, or

other item useful as evidence of a crime. <u>State v. O'Neill</u>, 148 Wn.2d 564, 583, 62 P.3d 489 (2003); <u>State v. Hudson</u>, 124 Wn.2d 107, 114, 874 P.2d 160 (1994); <u>Coolidge v. New Hampshire</u>, 403 U.S. 443, 463-72, 91 S. Ct. 2022, 29 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1971).

Stoltman contends that Officer Olson's testimony that he "wanted to determine whether or not" the items were stolen demonstrates that Olson did not immediately recognize the items as contraband. Brief of Appellant at 29 (citing RP 33, 37). Since Olson continued his investigation by looking for the vessel from which the items seized had been stolen, Stoltman argues the situation is like <u>State v. Murray</u>, 84 Wn.2d 527, 527 P.2d 1303 (1974). He is incorrect.

In Murray, officers investigating theft from a school obtained consent to search an apartment for the equipment that had been stolen. Id. at 529. During the search, the officers found a portable television, tilted it to obtain the serial number, and subsequently learned that the television had been stolen, not from the school but from a pharmacy. Id. The officers returned and seized the television. Id. The court held that that the plain view doctrine did not permit seizure of the television because the officers did not know the television was stolen until after they seized the serial

number (which was not in plain view) and checked it with police headquarters. Id. at 535. The court observed that "there was nothing unusual about the location of the television as to its utility and usability in the defendant's premises" such that officers could reasonably infer that the object was stolen. Id. at 534. The court also rejected as pure speculation the officer's testimony that he believed the television was stolen because the defendant probably could not afford a television. Id. at 534-35. Because the officers did not have "the requisite immediate knowledge upon which they could reasonably conclude that they had incriminating evidence before them," the trial court erred in allowing seizure of the television. Id.

This case is not like <u>Murray</u> because Officer Olson had ample information from which to conclude that the pipe valve, valve handles, and cut copper and brass fittings were stolen. First, Olson knew that Stoltman and Hibszki had stolen cable to sell at scrap yards just the day before. Olson also knew from Vick that Stoltman and Hibszki had returned in order to steal more material. Further, unlike the television in <u>Murray</u>, there was something "unusual about the location" of the enormous pipe valve "as to its utility and usability" in the middle of a seven-foot boat. Finally, Officer Olson

had further reason to believe the valve had been stolen because of the contradictory explanations for the valve's presence by Stoltman and Hibszki.⁶

For an item in plain view to be "immediately recognizable" as evidence, it is not necessary that an officer possess certain knowledge that the item to be seized is contraband. State v. Higgs, 177 Wn. App. 414, 433, 311 P.3d 1266 (2013) (citing State v. Gonzales, 46 Wn. App. 388, 400, 731 P.2d 1101 (1986)). Rather, the test is whether, "considering the surrounding circumstances, the police can reasonably conclude that the substance before them is incriminating evidence." Hudson, 124 Wn.2d at 118. Officer Olson had sufficient grounds to reasonably conclude that the pipe valve and other items seized were incriminating evidence of theft. The trial court did not err in ruling that the items seized from Stoltman and Hibszki were admissible.

⁶ Stoltman contends that these statements should not be considered in this analysis because they were obtained in violation of <u>Miranda</u>. Brief of Appellant at 32-34. As explained above, <u>Miranda</u> did not apply.

3. THE DELAY IN CHARGING STOLTMAN DID NOT VIOLATE FUNDAMENTAL CONCEPTIONS OF JUSTICE.

Stoltman next contends that the 31-month delay between the date of his crimes and the filing of charges violated his right to due process. Although the trial court correctly concluded that the delay prejudiced Stoltman in some ways, allowing the prosecution of this case did not violate fundamental conceptions of justice. The trial court did not err by refusing to dismiss the charges.

Not every delay in filing charges is a violation of due process. To determine whether a delay has resulted in a due process violation, Washington courts apply a three-prong test.

State v. Oppelt, 172 Wn.2d 285, 295, 257 P.3d 653 (2011). "The test, simply stated, is that (1) the defendant must show actual prejudice from the delay; (2) if the defendant shows prejudice, the court must determine the reasons for the delay; (3) the court must then weigh the reasons and the prejudice to determine whether fundamental conceptions of justice would be violated by allowing prosecution." Id. "Where the State's reason for delay is mere negligence, establishing a due process violation requires greater prejudice to the defendant than cases of intentional bad faith

delay." <u>Id.</u> at 296. Review of the trial court's determination is de novo. <u>Id.</u> at 290.

Stoltman argues that he suffered actual prejudice as a result of the delay because the confidential informant had died, updated technology allowed Officer Olson to identify a witness who testified against Stoltman at trial, and Stoltman could not plead guilty to a lesser, misdemeanor offense because any such offense was time-barred. CP 118-20; RP 201-02. Stoltman does not contend that the delay was in bad faith, but argues that the reasons for the delay were insignificant compared to the prejudice.

Officer Olson testified about the delay. He explained that his father had been diagnosed with terminal brain cancer in June 2010, not long before Olson encountered Stoltman and Hibszki. RP 52.

As his father's condition rapidly deteriorated, Olson became his father's primary caregiver. RP 53. He took significant time off work and put all of his cases "on the back burner" in order to care for his father until his death in September 2012. RP 53-55. During the same period, he also had a new baby. RP 106. By the time of trial, these events still so troubled Officer Olson that the court ordered a

recess so that he could collect himself in order to complete his testimony. RP 205.

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